# Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

8-18-2008

# Gardiner v. Boundary County Bd. Of Com'rs Appellant's Brief Dckt. 35007

Statement of the Case
Issues Presented on Appeal4
Argument4
I. Boundary County's Subdivision and Zoning Ordinance 99-06 does not violate Idaho Code 67-6512 and is not void either on its face or as applied in this case
II. Boundary County's decision should be upheld in the alternative because the county's interpretation that gravel pits are commercial in nature is reasonable
III. The county's decision is supported by substantial and competent evidence in the record
IV. The Board of Commissioners did not shift the burden of persuasion to the Gardiners, and thereby engage in an unlawful procedure 16
V. The district court erred in awarding attorneys fees18
Conclusion21
Certificate of Mailing22

## TABLE OF CASES AND AUTHORITIES

## Cases and Authorities

Allen v Blaine County, 131 Idaho 138, 953 P.2d 578 (1998)5
Southfork Coalition v Board of Commissioners, 117 Idaho 857, 792 P.2d 882 (1990)5
Howard v Canyon County Board of Commissioners, 128 Idaho 497, 915 P.2d 709, (1996)5
Castaneda v Brighton Corp., 130 Idaho 923, 950 P.2d 1262, (1998)5
Owen v Burcham, 100 Idaho 441, 559 P.2d 1021 (1979)6
Mancilla v Greg, 131 Idaho 685, (1980)6
Friends of Farm to Market v. Valley County, 137 Idaho 192, 46 P.3d 9, (2002)6
Payette River Property Owners Assn. vs. Board of Comm'rs of Valley County, 132 Idaho 551, 976 P.2d 477 (1999)
Hamilton ex rel. Hamilton vs. Reeder Flying Serv., 135 Idaho 568, 21 P.3d 890 (2001)7
George W. Watkins vs. Messenger, 118 Idaho 537, 797 P.2d 1385 (1990)
Lawless vs. Davis, 98 Idaho 175, 560 P.2d 497 (1977)7
Umphrey vs. Sprinkel, 106 Idaho 700, 682 P.2d 1247 (1983)7
Gavica vs. Hansen, 101 Idaho 58, 608 P.2d 861 (1980)7
State vs. Knott, 132 Idaho 476, 974 P.2d 1105 (1999)7
Urrutia v. Blaine County, 134 Idaho 353, 2 P.3d 738, (2000)19
Fischer v City of Ketchum, 141 Idaho 349, 109 P.3d 1091 (2005)19

Idaho Potato Commission v. Russet Valley Produce, 127 Idaho 654, 904 P.2d 566(1995)20
Cox v. Department of Ins., 121 Idaho 143, 148, 823 P.2d 177, 182 (Ct. App. 1991)20
Ralph Naylor Farms, LLC v. Latah County, 144 Idaho 806, 172 P.3d 1081 (2007)20
Statutes and Rules
Idaho Code §67-6512passim
Idaho Code, §67-80032
Idaho Code, §67-65353,17,18
1999 Idaho State Legislature Session Laws pertaining to 67-65129
Idaho Code, Title 67, Chapter 52 (Administrative Procedures Act)4,5
Idaho Code §67-52795
Idaho Code §67-52704,5
Idaho Code §67-650214
Idaho Code §12-11718,19,20
Idaho Code §12-12118
Miscellaneous
Boundary County Zoning and Subdivision Ordinance 99-06passim
Boundary County Comprehensive Plan13,14
The Record and Transcripts of the county hearings are included as exhibits to the Clerk's Record in this matter and are cited to as they appeared at the lower court level

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

On March 22, 2005, Tungsten Holding, Inc., filed an application for a special use permit to operate a permanent commercial gravel pit on seven (7) acres near Porthill, Boundary County, Idaho. The Gardiner's property is adjacent to the Tungsten's property. (R.O.A. 2006, p.1-2)1

The Gardiners operate a registered Angus cattle ranch on their property.

The President of Tungsten Holding, Inc., is Rick Dinning. Rick Dinning is the brother of Dan Dinning, a member of the Boundary County Board of Commissioners. (R.O.A. p. 216) On May 19, 2005, the Boundary County Planning and Zoning Commission held a public hearing and after that hearing, made a recommendation by a 3-2 vote to the Boundary County Board of Commissioners to deny the special use permit. (R.O.A. 2006 p183-184)

The Boundary County Board of Commissioners held a hearing on July 26, 2005, at which time the board tentatively approved the special use permit, but took the matter under advisement to determine whether or not mitigating conditions could be imposed. A subsequent hearing was held on August 8, 2005, at which time the Board of County Commissioners approved the special use permit subject to suggested mitigating conditions. Dan Dinning participated in the hearing but abstained from voting. (C.T. 8/8/05 p.1:23, p 39:24-25, p41:14-25, p. 42:1-4) On September 6, 2005, the Board of County Commissioners met once again to address the findings prepared by Zoning Coordinator, Mike Weland. No public discussion was permitted and Dan Dinning did not participate in the discussions and abstained from voting. (C.T. 9/6/05 p.18, R.O.A. 2006, p.172-174)

On September 13, 2005, the Gardiners filed a Request for Regulatory Takings pursuant to

Idaho Code 67-8003. On September 27, 2005, the Board of County Commissioners denied a taking of Gardiner's property had occurred. The Gardiners filed a Petition for Judicial Review on October 3, 2005. (R.O.A. 2006, p.218) Pursuant to the filing of the Judicial Review and further negotiations between the Gardiners and the county, on April 30, 2006, the parties stipulated that Dan Dinning's participation in the previous hearings constituted a conflict of interest and that the special use permit previously granted should be voided. In addition, the parties stipulated that the matter would be remanded for a new hearing without Commissioner Dinning's participation. That stipulation was memorialized and signed by the district court on May 26, 2006. (R.O.A. 2006, p.216-217)

A new hearing took place on July 24, 2006, and additional testimony was presented both in favor of as well as in opposition against the special use permit. The applicants presented to the Board of County Commissioners two additional written documents including a letter dated July 19, 2006, written by Pat and Ada Gardiner and a letter dated July 17, 2006, from Kristine Uhlman, a registered geologist in the State of Arizona, who was hired by Pat and Ada Gardiner, providing a hydrogeology analysis of the proposed special use permit and its potential affects on the Gardiner property. In addition, the Gardiners provided a report from the Michigan State University Extension Office entitled "Getting the Cow Herd Bred." Finally, the Gardiners presented a list of approvals and disapprovals of requests from individuals for gravel pit operations in certain geographical locations. It was also stated at the July 24, 2006, public hearing by John Topp, the Attorney for the Board of County Commissioners, "The previous record of the board heard pursuant to this stipulation is part of this record as well as basically

<sup>1</sup> The Record prepared for the lower court was received by this Court as an exhibit on June 18, 2008, along recordings from the hearings before the Boundary Board of Commissioners (see R. Vol II, p. 288-289)

everything that you have heard before you can utilize and make in your decision, you can go back through and review that information as necessary. Also we stipulated that it would be back before the County Commissioners for a hearing and Commissioner Dan Dinning, the record needs to reflect, is not even present within this room ..." (C.T. 7/24/06 p.2-4) At the conclusion of the hearing, the matter was taken under advisement and the hearing was rescheduled for August 7, 2006. (C.T. 8/7/06 p. 1) The commissioners approved the special use permit affirming the previous findings from the 2005 hearing as well as an additional condition. The Gardiners once again filed a request for regulatory takings analysis on August 29, 2006. On September 26, 2006, the county denied a taking had occurred.

The Gardiners filed a second petition for judicial review. The Honorable James R. Michaud heard oral argument on the petition on October 25, 2007. (Tr. p.1) The district court took the matter under advisement and subsequently issued a written opinion that is now the subject of this appeal. In the opinion, the lower court held that:

- Boundary County Zoning and Subdivision Ordinance 99-06 violates I.C. 67 6512 pertaining to special use permits.
- 2) Boundary County failed to hold the applicant, Tungsten, to the burden of persuasion and thereby violated the due process rights of the Gardiners.
- 3) The county's written decision does not comply with I.C. 67-6535.
- 4) The Gardiners were entitled to attorneys fees because the county acted without a reasonable basis in fact and law. (R.Vol. II, p. 264-625)2

The lower court's ruling precluded the possibility of a remand, and rendered this matter ripe for appeal. (R. Vol. II, p. 280) The County filed a notice of appeal on February 13. 2008, (R.

Vol. II, p. 229) and an amended notice of appeal on March 5, 2008. (R. Vol II, p. 240) On June 17, 2008, this Court granted Tungsten's Petition for Leave to Intervene.

#### ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- Did the lower court err in determining Boundary County Zoning and Subdivision
  Ordinance 99-06 violates I.C. 67-6512 pertaining to special use permits and should be rendered void?
- 2) Did the lower court err in determining that Boundary's County interpretation of its ordinance was unreasonable?
- 3) Is the decision of the Board of Commissioners supported by substantial and competent evidence in the Record?
- 4) Did the lower court err in finding the county improperly shifted the burden of persuasion to the Gardiners?
- 5) Did the lower court err in awarding attorneys fees to the Gardiners?

#### ARGUMENT

I. Boundary County's Subdivision and Zoning Ordinance 99-06 does not violate Idaho Code 67-6512 and is not void either on its face or as applied in this case.

This appeal should be treated in accordance with the Idaho Administrative Procedure Act (IDAPA), Title 67, Chapter 52 of Idaho Code. The court reviews the decision of a governmental agency under the standards set forth in the IDAPA, and in accordance with Idaho Code Section 67-5270(2), which states:

<sup>2</sup> The lower court made additional findings found in the Memorandum Opinion and Order.

"A person aggrieved by final agency action other than an order in a contested case is entitled to judicial review under this chapter if the person complies with the requirements of Sections 67-5271 through 67-5279, Idaho Code."

There is no issue that the County is treated as an administrative agency for the purpose of judicial review. The Court has solidified this position, see *Allen v Blaine County*, 131 Idaho 138, 140, 953 P.2d 578, 580 (1998), *Southfork Coalition v Board of Commissioners*, 117 Idaho 857, 860, 792 P.2d 882, 885 (1990).

The Court shall affirm the zoning agency's action unless the Court finds that the agency's findings, inferences, conclusions or decisions are: (a) in excess of constitutional or statutory provisions; (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency; (c) made upon unlawful procedure; (d) not supported by substantial evidence on the record as a whole; or (e) arbitrary, capricious, or an abuse of discretion. I.C. § 67-5279(2)

Thus, the function of the reviewing court is to determine whether the decision of the County is supported by substantial evidence, and if so, whether the conclusions properly apply the law in relation to the facts as found. The Court should be guided by *Howard v Canyon County Board of Commissioners*, 128 Idaho 497, 480, 915 P.2d 709, 710 (1996), in determining "There is a strong presumption of the validity favoring the actions of zoning authorities." *Id.* The county's findings of fact are upheld if they are supported by substantial and competent evidence. The court must defer to the agency findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous. See *Castaneda v Brighton Corp.*, 130 Idaho 923, 926, 950 P.2d 1262, 1265 (1998) citing *Southfork Coalition v Board of Commissioners*, 117 Idaho 857, 860, 792 P.2d 882, 885 (1990). Further, this Court has indicated that "the agency's factual determinations are binding on the reviewing court even where there is conflicting evidence before the agency so long as the determinations are supported by substantial competent evidence in the record." *Id.* 

The district court must not interfere with the County's substantive decision making process. It is essential to note that the term "substantial evidence" does not refer to a particular quantum of evidence, but rather substantial requires that there be evidence that is sufficient in quantity and value that reasonable minds could conclude that there is evidence supporting the decision. See Owen *v Burcham*, 100 Idaho 441, 559 P.2d 1021 (1979). This Court in *Mancilla v Greg*, 131 Idaho 685, 687 (1980), defines substantial and competent evidence. The Court stated:

"Substantial and competent evidence is more than a scintilla of proof, but less than a preponderance. It is relevant evidence which a reasonable mind might accept to support a conclusion. Where conflicting evidence is presented that is supported by substantial and competent evidence, the findings of the commission must be sustained on appeal regardless of whether this court may have reached a different conclusion." *Mancilla* 131 Idaho at 687 (citation omitted)

Regardless of whether the petitioners or the lower court may have reached a different decision than that of the Boundary County Commissioners had they been in the board's place, the decision of the county should be upheld by this Court.

The Court should apply the same principles in construing municipal and county ordinances as it does in the construction of statutes. See *Friends of Farm to Market v. Valley County*, 137 Idaho 192, 197, 46 P.3d 9, 14 (2002). The objective in interpreting a statute or ordinance is to derive the intent of the legislative body that adopted it. *Payette River Property Owners Assn. vs. Board of Comm'rs of Valley County*, 132 Idaho at 557, 976 P.2d at 483. Such analysis begins with the literal language of the enactment. *Id.* Where the language is unambiguous, the clearly expressed intent of the legislative body must be given effect, and there is no occasion for a court to consider rules of statutory construction. *Id.* An ordinance is ambiguous where reasonable minds might differ or be uncertain as to its meaning. *Id.* However,

ambiguity is not present merely because the parties present differing interpretations to the court. *Id.* Constructions that would lead to absurd or unreasonably harsh results are disfavored. *Id.* "Language of a particular section need not be viewed in a vacuum. And all sections of applicable statutes must be construed together so as to determine the legislature's intent." *Friends of Farm to Market*, 137 Idaho at 197, 46 P.3d at 14.

Statutory construction begins with the literal language of the statute. If a statute is unambiguous, the court need not consider rules of statutory construction and the statute will be given its plain meaning. *Hamilton ex rel. Hamilton vs. Reeder Flying Serv.*, 135 Idaho 568, 572, 21 P. 3d 890, 894 (2001). When interpreting a statute, the primary function of the court is to determine and give effect to the legislative intent. *George W. Watkins vs. Messenger*, 118 Idaho 537, 539-40 797 P. 2d 1385, 1387-88 (1990). Such intent should be derived from a reading of the whole act at issue. Id., 118 Idaho at 539, 797 P. 2d at 1387-88.

When the language of a statute is ambiguous, the court then looks to rules of construction for guidance. See Lawless vs. Davis, 98 Idaho 175, 560 P. 2d 497 (1977). The court should also consider reasonableness of proposed interpretations. Umphrey vs. Sprinkel, 106 Idaho 700, 706, 682 P. 2d 1247, 1253 (1983). Interpretations of statutes that would lead to absurd or unreasonably harsh results are disfavored. See Gavica vs. Hansen, 101 Idaho 58, 60, 608 P. 2d 861, 863 (1980); Lawless, 98 Idaho at 177, 560 P. 2d at 499. To ascertain the intent of the legislature, the court must examine not only the literal words of the statutes, but also the context of those words, the public policy behind the statute, and its legislative history. State vs. Knott, 132 Idaho 476, 974 P. 2d 1105 (1999).

Idaho Code Section 67-6512 provides in part in subparagraph (a): "As part of a zoning ordinance each governing board may provide by ordinance adopted, amended, or repealed in

accordance with the notice and hearing procedures provided under section 67-6509, Idaho Code, for the processing of applications for special or conditional use permits. A special use permit may be granted to an applicant if the proposed use is conditionally permitted by the terms of the ordinance, subject to conditions pursuant to specific provisions of the ordinance, subject to the ability of political subdivisions, including school districts, to provide services for the proposed use, and when it is not in conflict with the plan . . ."

The lower court decision takes the position that I.C. 67-6512 specifically provides that the special use permit may be granted to an applicant if the proposed use is eligible for a conditional use permit by the terms of the ordinance. The holding of the lower court is narrow in its scope and application. The holding basically limits Boundary County's ability to grant special use permits only if the applicant is eligible for a conditional use permit in the applicable zoning district. (R. Vol II, p. 272) This interpretation leads to an unfair and harsh result by eliminating Boundary County's ability to allow certain activities and uses that are not expressly listed as a use by right, a permitted use, or a conditional use within its zoning ordinance. The term "conditionally permitted" used in I.C. 67-6512 does not mean that special use permits must be the same as conditional use permits. The statute specifically provides that "a special use permit may be granted to an applicant if the proposed use is conditionally permitted by the terms of the ordinance..." I.C. 67-6512. If intent of the statute was to say that there must be a conditional permit, it would logically follow then that there would be no need for special use permits. The term "conditionally permitted" should be given its plain meaning and not as the lower court interpreted the term to mean "requiring a conditional use permit".

In 1999, the Idaho State Legislature amended IC 67-6512.

67-6512. SPECIAL USE PERMITS, CONDITIONS, AND PROCEDURES. (a) As part of a zoning ordinance each governing board may provide by ordinance adopted, amended, or repealed in accordance with the notice and hearing procedures pro-vided under section 67-6509, Idaho Code, for the processing of applications for special or conditional use permits. A special use permit may be granted to an applicant if the proposed use is -otherwise -prohibited -conditionally permitted by the terms of the ordinance, -but may be allowed with - subject to conditions -under -pursuant to specific provisions of the ordinance, subject to the ability of political subdivisions, including school districts, to provide services for the proposed use, and when it is not in conflict with the plan (previous wording is shown stricken, emphasis added to changes)(1999 Idaho State Legislature Session Laws)

The revised language no longer allowed landowners to attempt to put a prohibited use on their property through obtaining a special use permit. The revision closed a potential loophole in the statute. If gravel pits were a prohibited use within the agriculture/forestry zone, Boundary County could not have issued the special use permit. However, gravel pits and surface resource extraction activities are not a prohibited use within the zone and therefore, it was proper under the ordinance to grant the special use permit application subject to specific mitigating conditions being placed on the applicant, as well as all other requirements being met. "Conditionally permitted" should be given its plain meaning; permitted, with certain conditions, as opposed to the meaning interpreted by the lower court of requiring a conditional use permit. If the legislature wanted special use permits to be issued only if the subject property was eligible for a conditional use permit, it is reasonable to presume the language would have so stated.

Boundary County Zoning and Subdivision Ordinance 99-06, Chapter 7, Section 1, subparagraph (e) provides "Any use not specified in this section as a use by right or conditional use is eligible for consideration as a special use, subject to the provisions of Chapter 13." The literal language of the ordinance does not mirror that of IC 67-6512 prior to the 1999 revision. The language of the ordinance does not state that prohibited uses are eligible with a special use

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