Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-31-2008

Gardiner v. Boundary County Bd. Of Com'rs Respondent's Brief Dckt. 35007

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

ARGUMENT

A. THE BOARD'S ACTION GRANTING SPECIAL USE PERMIT VIOLATES IDAHO CODE 67-6512.

1. A Gravel Pit/Rock Quarry Is Not a Conditionally Permitted Use in the Zone District. Whether a board of commissioners violated a statutory provision is a matter of law over which the Court exercises free review. Friends of Farm To Market v. Valley County, 137 Idaho 192,

196 (2002); <u>Evans v. Teton County</u>, 139 Idaho 71, 75 (2003). Section 67-6512 governs the issuance of special use permits by local agencies. It provides that a special use permit may be granted to an applicant "if the proposed use is conditionally permitted by the terms of the ordinance."

Gravel pits are not conditionally permitted by the terms of the Ordinance. Therefore, Tungsten may not be issued a special use permit for a gravel pit. It follows that the board's action granting special use permit for a gravel pit is illegal and void.

Chapter 7, Section 1 of the Ordinance (AR, p. 256) specifies three categories of uses that are permitted in agriculture/forestry zones. These are "uses by right," "permitted uses," and "conditional uses." Farming and livestock production are "uses by right." Thus, respondents' ranch is a use by right. Farm and ranch residences are "permitted uses." Chapter 7 lists seven categories of conditional uses. Neither gravel pits nor "mineral extraction" are included in any of these categories. Thus, gravel pits are not allowed as a use by right, permitted use or conditional use. Therefore, the board may not grant a special use permit for a gravel pit.

2. <u>Section 1E Conflicts With Section 67-6512 and Is Unlawful and Void.</u> The board relied on Section 1E of Chapter 7 of the Ordinance to issue Tungsten's permit. But Section 1E conflicts with § 67-6512, and therefore, is unlawful and void.

Section 1E states that "[a]ny use **not specified** in this section as a use by right or conditional use is eligible for consideration as a special use." (Emphasis added.) But Section 67-6512 only authorizes special use permits for uses the ordinance **specifies**. Therefore, Section 1E directly conflicts with § 67-6512. A county ordinance may not conflict with a state statute. <u>Boise v. Bench</u> Sewer Dist., 116 Idaho 25 (1989) (county ordinance that conflicts with general law is void); <u>Brower</u>

v. Bingham County, 140 Idaho 512, 515 (2004) (county ordinance that conflicts with local land use planning statutes is void); In re Ridenbaugh, 5 Idaho 371, 375 (1897) (under § 2 of article 12 of the Idaho Constitution, counties may not enact regulations that conflict with general laws).

Section 1E reflects the earlier version of § 67-6512 before it was amended, effective July 1, 1999. The former statute stated that a special use permit may be granted to an applicant "if the proposed use is otherwise prohibited by the terms of the ordinance," but may be allowed with conditions under specific provisions of the ordinance. (See County brief, p. 9.) Under this language, special use permits might be issued for uses that were not specified in the ordinance as uses by right or conditional uses. This language was deleted and replaced by the current language. (See Senate Bill No. 1202, 1999 Ida. ALS 396, 1999 Idaho Sess. Laws 396.)

The board ignored the change to § 67-6512, and granted the special use permit on the basis of Section 1E. Thus, the board's action was predicated on an Ordinance provision the Legislature repudiated. Accordingly, the board's action is unlawful because it is based on an invalid provision in an ordinance. The county has no authority to act on an ordinance that conflicts with Idaho Code 67-6512. Fischer v. City of Ketchum, 141 Idaho 349, 356 (2005); Ralph Naylor Farms v. Latah County, 144 Idaho 806, 810 (2007) (ordinance that obviously conflicts with state law is pre-empted).

Appellants' contention that Section 1E complies with § 67-6512 is meritless. The county argues that the 1999 amendment to Section 1E only disallowed special use permits for uses that the Ordinance prohibits, and that since the Ordinance does not prohibit gravel pits, it "conditionally permits" special use permits for gravel pits. The county says the only way special

use permits for gravel pits are not allowed is if the Ordinance prohibited gravel pits, or if the Ordinance did not authorize special use permits. These arguments lack merit because they ignore the plain language of § 67-6512 which does not say that. Counties are not free to ignore the plain language of state statutes. Ralph Naylor Farms v. Latah County, supra.

Tungsten contends the county intended Section 1E to process special use permits for "unscheduled" uses, and thus, to allow uses which may not have been anticipated when the ordinance was enacted or which could be allowed with conditions. But that was the old law.

Tungsten complains that any other interpretation would result in a situation where only specifically defined uses are allowed in any zone. Both appellants think this would be harsh and onerous because as they concede, gravel pits are not listed anywhere in the Ordinance as a conditional use or any other kind of permitted use.

But that is the point. While special use permits might be granted for "unspecified" uses under the former version of § 67-6512, the Legislature changed the law to prohibit special use permits for "unspecified" uses. Therefore, a use, such as a gravel pit, that is not permitted in a zone district, may no longer come in through the "back door" of a special use permit, as occurred three times here. Local officials who wish to grant an economic benefit to a particular landowner under a special use permit may think the amendment is harsh or onerous, but the Legislature disagrees for good reason.

LLUPA requires counties to adopt comprehensive land use plans and zoning ordinances that promote ordered development while protecting property rights and the environment. Idaho Code 67-6502. Requiring zoning ordinances to state the permitted uses for conditional and special use permits protects landowners making substantial investment in their property, such as a purebred cattle ranch

and residences in reliance on zoning provisions, from the catastrophe of an unanticipated, "unspecified," conflicting use moving in next door, such as a gravel pit/rock quarry. Such policy encourages economic investment in the county and promotes ordered, not haphazard development.

3. <u>The County's Contrary "Interpretation" Is Clearly Erroneous and Does Not Merit</u>

<u>Deference.</u> Interpretation of an ordinance, like construction of a statute, is an issue of law over which the court exercises free review. <u>Friends of Farm To Market supra.</u>

Appellant and Tungsten ("appellants") contend the board interpreted the Ordinance to conditionally permit special use permits for unspecified uses, and this is entitled to a strong presumption of validity. But the presumption of validity favoring actions of a zoning authority does not apply unless the actions are free from capriciousness, arbitrariness or discrimination.

Rural Kootenai Organization, Inc. v. Board of Comm'rs, 133 Idaho 833, 842 (1999); Davisco Foods International, Inc. v. Gooding County, 141 Idaho 784, 788 (2005). A court will substitute its judgment for that of an agency when the agency acts outside the bounds of its discretion. Lane Ranch Partnership v. City of Sun Valley ("Lane II"), 175 P.3d 776, 780 (2006) (reversing a city's interpretation of an ordinance denying a permit to a disfavored person). Courts do not defer to an agency's interpretation of law. Friends of Farm to Market v. Valley County, supra. No deference is due to an agency's findings that are clearly erroneous. Butters v. Hauser, 125 Idaho 79, 81 (1993) (reversing a decision where findings not supported by substantial evidence).

Appellants contend that Section 1E authorizes the board to issue special use permits for "unspecified" uses under the procedures of Chapter 13, which allows the county to attach conditions to special use permits. In their view, the Ordinance "conditionally permits" special

use permits, and therefore, a special use permit for a gravel pit does not conflict with § 67-6512. Such illogical interpretation ignores the statutory language.

Section 67-6512 requires the ordinance to conditionally permit the proposed <u>use</u>, not the special use permit. The same statute that prohibits special use permits for "unspecified" uses also authorizes county boards to attach conditions to special use permits. § 67-6512(d). Therefore, the authority to attach conditions to a special use permit does not mean that "unspecified uses" that are not permitted in a zone district, are "conditionally permitted."

All sections of the applicable statute must be construed together to determine the legislative body's intent. Statutes must be construed so as to give effect to all their provisions and not to render any part superfluous or insignificant. Evans v. Teton County, supra, 139 Idaho at 77. Accordingly, subsection (d) of § 67-6512 may not be interpreted as changing or eliminating the requirements in subsection (a). Under the statute, the proposed use must be conditionally permitted. When issuing a permit, specific conditions may be attached tailored to the specific use. Granting an unlawful permit with conditions does not make the permit valid. Appellants concede that gravel pits are an "unspecified" use. Therefore, § 67-6512(a) prohibits the board from issuing a special use permit for a gravel pit.

The District Court properly rejected this same argument below because § 67-6512 plainly states that the proposed <u>use</u>, not the special use <u>permit</u>, must be conditionally permitted in the ordinance. The plain meaning of statutes must be given effect. <u>Evans v. Teton County, supra;</u> <u>Lane Ranch Partnership, supra,</u> 175 P.3d at 778.

Essentially, appellants argue that the plain meaning of § 67-6512 does not mean what it

says, and the county is free to interpret the Ordinance as if former § 67-6512 still applies. There is no authority for appellants to argue the old law still applies. It is clear the county is charged with knowledge of statutory changes, and the county failed in its duty not to enact regulations that conflict with state law. The county had legal counsel at all times relevant and is presumed to know the law. See <u>Cannon v. Univ. of Chi.</u>, 441 U.S. 677, 696-97, 60 L.Ed.2ds 560 (1979) (elected officials are presumed to know the law). The District Court correctly read the plain, unambiguous language in § 67-6512 to require that the <u>use</u> – here, a gravel pit/rock quarry – not the special use permit, must be conditionally permitted in the ordinance for a special use permit to be granted. The decision is correct and should be affirmed.

If the county intended to allow gravel pits in any or all zone districts, it should have amended the Ordinance. No reason is given why the Ordinance was not amended. Appellants erroneously attempt to reconcile a superceded ordinance provision with current § 67-6512. This is impossible because § 67-6512 prohibits what Section 1E allows. If counties are permitted to avoid the plain language of statutes through interpretations of conflicting ordinances, no state law could be enforced. Appellants' interpretation of the Ordinance must be rejected as meritless.

4. The Zoning Administrator Provides No Authority for the County's Views. The county relies on the "analysis" the zoning administrator "came up with" to justify the special use permit. Nowhere in the record do the commissioners seek a legal opinion from its attorney on this issue. Weland's ad hoc administrative analysis does not substitute for a legal opinion or provide any valid authority.

Essentially, Weland argues that failure to mention gravel pits in the Ordinance means that

gravel pits are permitted in every zone district. This view is not reasonable because it conflicts with Section 67-6512, and also conflicts with the *expressio unius* rule of statutory construction that things left out of a statute may not be implied in. (See <u>Peck v. State</u>, 63 Idaho 375 (1941.) The suggestion that mining operations can take place in every zone in the county -- every rural zone, every residential zone, every suburban zone as a special use defeats the purpose of the special use legislation as allowed by the State Legislature and adopted by the county.

Nothing stopped the county from amending the Ordinance to conditionally permit gravel pits in particular zones if it wanted to do that. If the county addressed mineral extraction in the Plan, but not in the Ordinance, it must have been because the county valued a rural agricultural lifestyle at the time of the adoption of the ordinance, but allowed for the fact that in the future, mineral development might need to be considered more fully. But that goal is reached through amendment of the Ordinance, not a contortion of provisions in the Plan. See Giltner Dairy v. Jerome County, 181 P.3d 1238, 1240 (2008) (comprehensive plan not a legally controlling zoning law). Weland also improperly relies on selective portions of the Plan and Appendix I to the Plan, and ignores other portions of both documents that value agriculture and the rural lifestyle over the economic impact of minerals.

Weland's analysis conflicts with other Ordinance provisions. Chapters 8 and 9 of the Ordinance pertain to non-conforming uses and variances. A non-conforming use is defined as a

Appendix I, p. 1 also states that it is "imperative" to maintain the county's rural lifestyle "upon which no monetary value can be placed." Appendix I is a document that was outside the administrative record. Therefore, it could not be used to support a finding. <u>Eacret v. Bonner County</u>, 139 Idaho 780, 786 (2004); <u>Sanders Orchard v. Gem County</u>, 137 Idaho 695, 702-03 (2002)(decision based on matters outside the record is prejudicial and void.) The District Court granted judicial notice of the conflicting portions of Appendix I.

use that was lawfully in existence when the Ordinance was enacted but that is not in compliance with ordinance requirements. (Ord., Ch. 8. Section 1; see Addendum) Munson's gravel pit is an example. Non-conforming uses are only allowed to continue because they were lawful on the date the ordinance was enacted. The intent of the Ordinance is to allow the continuation of non-conforming uses, but to prevent their expansion. (Ch. 8, Section 1.)

Chapter 9 (Addendum) allows a property owner to obtain a variance if the use does not constitute a grant of special privilege and will not be materially detrimental to adjacent landowners. Tungsten's gravel pit does not meet these requirements. Therefore, under Chapters 8 and 9, a gravel pit is not permitted in every zone district. Accordingly, gravel pits <u>are</u> a prohibited use. It follows that Weland's analysis is wholly erroneous.

5. The District Court Did Not Interpret "Conditionally Permitted" as Synonymous With Conditional Use. The county contends the Court interpreted "conditionally permitted" narrowly to mean "requiring a conditional use permit." But the Court did not do that. The Court read the uses that are permitted in Ch. 7 of the Ordinance, and correctly concluded that gravel pits are not on the list. The county argues the Court should have given "conditionally permitted," its plain meaning, which, the county says, is "permitted with conditions." That is exactly what the District Court did.

Tungsten contends that the District Court's interpretation makes the words "conditionally permitted" synonymous with a conditional use, but that these are two different things. But the District Court did not interpret the statute as meaning anything other than what the plain language says. Section 67-6512 authorizes county boards to issue conditional or special use permits, and states that special use permits may be granted if the proposed use is conditionally

permitted by the terms of the ordinance. The statute does not make special use permits and conditional use permits the same, although the rules for both permits may be similar.

That both types of permit require conditions does not make them the same. It is up to the individual county to determine and specify whether a particular use should be subject to a conditional or special use permit. The difference between conditional and special use permits in Boundary County is one of degree. Conditional uses are "more intensive than permitted uses." (Ord., Ch. 12, Section 1.) Special uses are "significantly more intensive" than permitted uses. (Ord., Ch. 13, Section 1; AR, p. 258.) These uses are different.

Section 67-6512 is unambiguous and clear. The District Court said the language was "plain." Therefore, the Court did not engage in statutory interpretation. Where statutory language is plain and unambiguous, the clearly expressed intent of the legislative body must be given effect, and there is no occasion for a court to consider rules of statutory interpretation. Neighbors For A Healthy Gold Fork v. Valley County, 176 P.3d 126, 136 (2007), citing Payette River Property Owners Ass'n v. Board of Comm'rs, 132 Idaho 551, 557 (1999).

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